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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

ALI RAZAK, KENAN SABANI and 
KHALDOUN CHERDOUD, individually 
and on behalf of all others similarly situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

UBER TECHNOLOGIES, INC. and 
GEGEN LLC, 

Defendants. 

:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:
:

Case No. 16-0573  

 

 
DEFENDANTS’ MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR 

JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS  

Plaintiffs Ali Razak, Kenan Sabani, and Khaldoun Cherdoud (“Plaintiffs’”) are 

independent limousine service providers, certified by the Philadelphia Parking Authority 

(“PPA”), who provide and/or provided limousine services in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  

Plaintiffs allege that they and other individuals who provided limousine services (“limousine 

drivers”)1 were misclassified by Defendants Uber Technologies, Inc. and Gegen, LLC 

(“Defendants”) as independent contractors.  Uber is a technology company that offers a 

smartphone application connecting riders looking for transportation to independent 

transportation providers (“drivers”),2 such as Plaintiffs, looking for riders. 

In this lawsuit, Plaintiffs assert six causes of action complaining about a number of 

perceived violations of federal and state wage and hour laws and Pennsylvania common law.  

                                                 
1 The term “limousine drivers” is used herein for convenience.  However, because Defendants do not prohibit a 
transportation provider from engaging another worker to drive his or her vehicle, it is not necessarily accurate to 
refer to the limousine service provider as a “limousine driver” because he or she may not do any driving.   
2  
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The First, Second, and Third Causes of Action purport to be brought on behalf of the named 

plaintiffs and a non-specific collective group of “employees of Defendants”3 limousine drivers 

seeking unpaid minimum and overtime wages, while the Sixth, Seventh, and Eighth Causes of 

Action purport to be brought on behalf of the named plaintiffs and a class of persons who 

provided limousine services through Defendants’ App in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.4 

On its face, however, Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to assert sufficient factual allegations to 

plausibly state a claim to relief as to any of the purported causes of action.  Although Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint dedicates 83 paragraphs to describing, among other general topics, “The Parties” 

(Compl. ¶¶ 9-19), “How Uber Works” (Compl. ¶¶ 24-39), “How UberBLACK Drivers are Paid” 

(Compl. ¶¶ 40-49), “UberBLACK Auto Financing and Liability Insurance” (Compl. ¶¶ 50-60), 

“Uber in Philadelphia” (Compl. ¶¶ 61-66), “UberX’s Illegal Operations in Philadelphia” (Compl. 

¶¶ 67-88), “Uber and Gegen’s Control over UberBLACK Drivers” (Compl. ¶¶ 89-93), it contains 

virtually no relevant factual allegations specific to the Plaintiffs’ experiences and the elements 

necessary to each cause of action.   

For example, as it relates to Plaintiffs’ wage and hour claims (First, Second, Third and 

Sixth Causes of Action), Plaintiffs entirely fail to identify the Plaintiffs’ or other individual 

limousine driver’s rate(s) of pay, dates of alleged employment, wages actually earned in a 

workweek, number of hours worked in a workweek, or the amount of expenses actually deducted 

such that Plaintiffs’ unpaid wages could be theoretically calculated or even inferred.  Also 

missing are any factual allegations that Defendants had actual or constructive knowledge of 

                                                 
3 Pursuant to an agreement with each limousine service provider, Defendants treated Plaintiffs and the drivers they 
seek to represent in this action as independent contractors.  Federal and state wage-and-hour laws do not apply to 
independent contractors.  Plaintiffs’ Complaint asserts that Plaintiffs were employees.  Compl. ¶¶ 95, 107.  
Defendants do not admit or in any way concede that Plaintiffs have asserted facts sufficient to establish an 
employer/employee relationship, and nothing in this Motion should be construed to the contrary.   
4 Plaintiffs’ Complaint does not contain a Fourth or Fifth Cause of Action. 
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Plaintiffs performing work as employees for which they were not paid, or that Plaintiffs ever 

informed Defendants that they failed to receive proper minimum wage or overtime payments.  

Without these basic facts, Plaintiffs’ Complaint merely speculates about hypothetical injuries and 

therefore fails to meet the pleading requirements set forth in Rule 8 and the Supreme Court’s 

requirements for the sufficiency of pleadings in Twombly and Iqbal.  Plaintiffs therefore have 

failed to “nudge[]” their “claims across the line from conceivable to plausible,” and their causes 

of action fail as a matter of law.  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007); 

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 680 (2009). 

The Seventh Cause of Action also fails to state a cognizable claim in light of the plain 

language of the Wage Payment and Collection Law and Plaintiffs’ inability to plead a contractual 

basis, written or oral, for their claims.  Plaintiffs’ Eighth Cause of Action is also woefully 

deficient.  Pennsylvania has not recognized as a matter of law that a company owes a fiduciary 

obligation to employees, let alone independent contractors.  Even if this Court were to 

conceptually entertain Plaintiffs’ allegations, Plaintiffs did not have and cannot assert facts to 

plausibly show a confidential relationship with Defendants.  In addition, Plaintiffs’ references to 

violations of 53 Pa. C.S. §§ 5701-5745 concerning taxicabs and limousines in first class cities is 

entirely misplaced; that statute does not provide for a private right of action to enforce perceived 

or alleged violations of its provisions.   

On its face, Plaintiffs’ Complaint also fails to assert sufficient factual allegations to 

plausibly suggest that Plaintiffs were misclassified.  Plaintiffs’ Complaint also fails to assert facts 

necessary to plausibly support the conclusion that Plaintiffs were similarly situated to other 

limousine drivers.  Even assuming one or more causes of action were deemed sufficient to 

survive this motion, Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to assert any facts that would plausibly suggest 
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that Defendants acted willfully.  Plaintiffs’ Prayer for Relief paragraph (d) fails to assert facts to 

support a common law cause of action for injunctive relief, and injunctive relief under the FLSA 

cannot be pursued by private individuals.  In addition, Plaintiffs fail to plead (1) a reference to 

the portion or portions of Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure under which is it 

claimed that the suit is properly maintainable as a class action; and (2) the size or approximate 

size and definition of the alleged class, thereby failing to comply with Local Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23.1(b)(1) and (b)(2)(A). 

For these reasons, and pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c), Defendants 

hereby move for judgment on the pleadings and the dismissal of Plaintiffs’ Complaint and each 

cause of action therein. 

I. SUMMARY OF PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS 

Plaintiffs Ali Razak, Kenan Sabai, and Khaldoun Cherdoud are citizens of the 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, reside in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and are limousine drivers 

that provide limousine or “black car” services to riders using the Uber App.  Compl. ¶¶ 2, 9-11.  

Plaintiffs allege that Defendant Uber Technologies, Inc., and Defendant Gegan, LLC, 

misclassified Plaintiffs and a group of individuals who provide limousine services as 

independent contractors.  Compl. ¶¶ 3, 4, 89.   

Plaintiffs’ First (FLSA – Failure to Pay Minimum Wages), Second (FLSA – Failure to 

Pay Overtime Wages), and Sixth (PMWA – Failure to Pay Minimum and Overtime Wages) 

Causes of Action allege that Defendants misclassified limousine drivers as independent 

contractors, and seek recovery for alleged uncompensated working time (including at least 

minimum wages for hours worked up to 40 per week and overtime compensation at one and one-

half times their regular rate for hours worked in excess of 40 per week), under the Fair Labor 

Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §§206(a), 207(a), and the Pennsylvania Minimum Wage Act, 43 Pa. 
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Stat. §133.104(a)-(b).  Compl. ¶¶ 121-132, 133-137, 143-148.  Plaintiffs’ First Cause of Action 

also appears to seek damages/injunctive relief for Defendants’ alleged violation of the posting 

requirements of the FLSA regulations, 29 C.F.R. § 516.4. 

Plaintiffs’ Third Cause of Action (FLSA – Failure to Pay Free and Clear Wages) seeks 

recovery of wages that were allegedly not paid “free and clear” due to deductions in unspecified 

amounts from Plaintiffs’ earnings for expenses, including a 25% fee described as “Uber’s fee,” 

regulatory fees assessed by the Philadelphia Parking Authority, vehicle payments, and insurance 

premium payments.  Compl. ¶¶138-142.  Plaintiffs’ theory appears to be that these deductions 

reduced their hourly rate below the federally required minimum wage rate of $7.25 per hour.   

Plaintiffs’ Seventh Cause of Action (WPCL – Failure to Designate Regular Paydays) 

seeks recovery of damages for Defendants’ alleged failure to designate, notify employees of, and 

pay wages on regular paydays, under the Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law, 43 

P.S. §§ 260.3, 260.4. Compl. ¶¶149-153.   

Plaintiff’s Eight Cause of Action (Breach of Fiduciary Duty) seeks recovery of damages 

for Defendants’ alleged breach of a fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs and Class members, under 

Pennsylvania common law.  Compl. ¶¶154-178.  Plaintiffs allege that they were owed a fiduciary 

duty by Defendants, and the introduction of “UberX” into the Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 

marketplace, allegedly an illegal competitor of the class of individuals Plaintiffs seek to 

represent, breached that fiduciary obligation. 

II. MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS STANDARD 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(c) allows any party to move for judgment on the 

pleadings after the pleadings have closed, but not within such time as to delay trial.  In order to 

prevail on such a motion, the movant must show “that there is no material issue of fact to 

resolve, and that it is entitled to judgment in its favor as a matter of law.”  Mele v. Fed. Reserve 
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Bank of N.Y., 359 F.3d 251, 253 (3d Cir. 2004).  In considering a motion for judgment on the 

pleadings, the Court applies the same standard as on a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6).  

See Spruill v. Gillis, 372 F.3d 218, 223 n.2 (3d Cir. 2004); RHJ Med. Ctr., Inc. v. City of DuBois, 

754 F. Supp. 2d 723, 732 (W.D. Pa. 2010).  In Fowler v. UPMC Shadyside, 578 F.3d 203, 210-

211 (3d Cir. 2009), the Third Circuit provided the test district courts should apply when 

considering a motion to dismiss: 

[W]hen presented with a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, district 
courts should conduct a two-part analysis.  First, the factual and legal elements of 
a claim should be separated.  The District Court must accept all of the complaint’s 
well-pleaded facts as true, but may disregard any legal conclusions.  Iqbal at 
1949.  Second, a District Court must then determine whether the facts alleged in 
the complaint are sufficient to show that the plaintiff has a “plausible claim for 
relief.” Id. at 1950. In other words, a complaint must do more than allege the 
plaintiff’s entitlement to relief.  A complaint has to “show” such an entitlement 
with its facts. See Phillips, 515 F.3d at 234–35.  As the Supreme Court instructed 
in Iqbal, “[w]here the well-pleaded facts do not permit the court to infer more 
than the mere possibility of misconduct, the complaint has alleged-but it has not 
‘show[n]’-’that the pleader is entitled to relief.’”  

“[W]here the well-pleaded facts do not permit the court to infer more than the mere possibility of 

misconduct, the complaint has alleged-but it has not ‘show[n]’ – ‘that the pleader is entitled to 

relief;’” and, thus, the complaint should be dismissed.  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1950 

(2009) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)).  Thus, to survive a motion to dismiss or a motion for 

judgment on the pleadings, the Complaint must state factual allegations that “plausibly give rise 

to an entitlement to relief.” Scott v. Bimbo Bakeries, USA, Inc., No. 10-3154, 2012 WL 645905, 

at *2 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 29, 2012). “[T]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, 

supported by mere conclusory statements,” are insufficient to establish plausible allegations to 

survive the motion.  Id.  If a complaint merely includes “a formulaic recitation of the elements of 

a cause of action,” it fails to state adequately a claim for relief. Deeley v. Genesis Healthcare 

Corp., Civ. No. 10-1242, 2011 WL 3240828, at *3 (E.D. Pa. July 29, 2011).  
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III. ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiffs Do Not Plead Basic Facts Required To Plausibly Establish 
Elements Of Their First (FLSA – Minimum Wage), Second (FLSA – 
Overtime), Third (FLSA – Failure To Pay Free And Clear Wages), And 
Sixth (PMWA – Minimum Wage And Overtime) Causes Of Action  

1. Plaintiffs Do Not Plead Any Facts To Establish Rate(s) Of Pay, 
Amount Of Wages Earned In A Workweek, Hours Worked, Or 
Amount Of Expenses Incurred In A Workweek For Plaintiffs Or Any 
Other Individuals 

Plaintiffs generally assert that Defendants misclassified them and therefore must have 

unlawfully avoided paying hourly and overtime wages.  Compl. ¶¶ 3, 4, 89.  Even if 

misclassified, there is no violation of the minimum wage and overtime laws unless Defendants 

failed to pay minimum wages for the first 40 hours worked each week and overtime wages at a 

rate of one and one-half times the employee’s regular rate for all hours in excess of 40 each 

week.  Plaintiffs have entirely failed to assert facts that would permit Defendants to calculate or 

this Court to determine that Defendants failed to pay wages pursuant to federal and state law.  

To support their claims for unpaid wages, Plaintiffs’ allege the following general 

conclusions in their Complaint:  

 “Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and members of the Collective Action the 
minimum wages they were entitled to under the FLSA” (Compl. ¶ 126), 

 “Defendants were required to pay directly to Plaintiffs and members of the 
Collective Action the federal minimum wage rate of at least $7.25 per hour” (Id. ¶ 
127), 

 “Plaintiffs and the members of the Collective Action did not earn any wages, let 
alone wages that were free and clear.  The cost of having to pay various expenses 
cut into the wages and overtime pay that Plaintiffs and members of the Collective 
Action are entitled to” (Id. ¶ 135), 

 “Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and members of the Collective Action an 
overtime premium for hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a work week” (Id. ¶ 
140), and  
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 “Defendants violated the PMWA by failing to pay Plaintiffs and the Class 
members the Pennsylvania minimum wage rate of $7.25 per hour” (Id. ¶ 146).   

Beyond these general conclusions, however, Plaintiffs make no effort to identify the Plaintiffs’ 

or other individual limousine driver’s actual rate(s) of pay, wages actually earned in a workweek, 

number of hours worked in a workweek, tasks performed that qualified as “work,” or to quantify 

the expenses that were allegedly deducted from earnings, which pay period expenses were 

deducted in, and to what extent such deductions reduced Plaintiffs wages below the minimum 

wage rate such that Plaintiffs’ allegedly unpaid minimum and overtime wages could be 

theoretically calculated or even inferred.  This fundamental pleading failure is fatal to Plaintiffs’ 

First, Second, and Sixth Causes of Action, because it deprives Defendants and this Court from 

any factual allegations upon which to infer that Plaintiffs (1) worked hours for which they were 

not compensated; and (2) were actually paid less than the minimum and overtime wages in any 

workweek.  This also makes it impossible to evaluate whether the alleged deductions sufficiently 

reduced Plaintiffs earnings to a rate below minimum wage.   

The FLSA and PMWA require employers to pay their employees a minimum wage of 

$7.25 per hour for hours worked up to the relevant overtime threshold.  29 U.S.C. § 206(a)(1); 43 

Pa. Stat. § 333.104(a.1).  Thus, to establish an FLSA and PMWA violation, a plaintiff must 

demonstrate that he or she was engaged in compensable activity within the meaning of the 

statutes and that the wages received for that activity were below the applicable statutory 

minimum wage.  Davis v. Mountaire Farms, Inc., 453 F.3d 554, 556 (3d Cir. 2006) (“The FLSA 

provides generally that covered, nonexempt employees must receive not less than a stated 

minimum wage for all hours worked, and overtime premium pay for all hours worked over forty 

hours in a workweek.”); Hensley v. MacMillan Bloedel Containers, Inc., 786 F.2d 353, 355 (8th 

Cir. 1986); Del Rio v. Uber Techs., Inc., 15-cv-03667-EMC, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40615 (N.D. 
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Cal., Mar. 28, 2016) (dismissing FLSA claim for failure to pay overtime and minimum wage, as 

“Plaintiffs do not explain how they define ‘work,’”); Yucesoy v. Uber Techs., Inc., No. 15-cv-

00262-EMC, 2015 WL 6955140, at *4 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 10, 2015) (dismissing Plaintiff’s 

Massachusetts minimum wage claim against Uber for failure to allege time spent connected to 

the Uber App was compensable). 

The FLSA and PMWA also require that employers pay their employees overtime at a rate 

of one and one-half times the employee’s regular rate for hours of work in excess of 40 in a 

workweek.  29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1); 43 P.S. § 333.104(c).  In order to survive a motion to dismiss, 

a plaintiff asserting a claim for overtime payments “must sufficiently allege [40] hours of work 

in a given workweek as well as some uncompensated time in excess of the [40] hours.”  Davis v. 

Abington Mem’l Hosp., 765 F.3d 236, 242 (3d Cir. 2014).  Only where Plaintiffs did not earn 

minimum wage and the overtime premium will liability attach.  See, e.g., Bolick v. Brevard 

County Sheriff’s Dep’t, 937 F. Supp. 1560, 1569 (M.D. Fla. 1996) (“The FLSA was designed to 

assure the payment of a minimum wage, plus overtime, nothing more.”) (emphasis in original); 

McElmurry v. US Bank Nat’l Ass’n, No. CV 04-642-HU, 2005 WL 2492932, at *3 (D. Or. Oct. 

7, 2005) (granting motion to dismiss FLSA claim where plaintiff did not allege wages were less 

than minimum wage and where no plaintiff could possibly state claim that he or she received less 

than minimum wage); see also, Del Rio v. Uber Techs., Inc., No. 15-CV-03667-EMC, 2016 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 40615 (N.D. Cal. March 28, 2016) (granting Uber’s motion to dismiss FLSA claims 

for failure to pay overtime and minimum wage on the grounds that Plaintiffs allegations were 

devoid of facts sufficient to state a claim); Yucesoy v. Uber Techs., Inc., No. 15-CV-00262-

EMC, 2016 WL 493189, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Feb. 9, 2016) (granting Uber’s third motion to dismiss 

with prejudice for breach of contract, minimum wage, and overtime claims on the grounds that 
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Plaintiffs failed to plead specific facts to support their claims); Yucesoy v. Uber Techs., Inc., No. 

15-CV-00262-EMC, 2015 WL 6955140, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 10, 2015) (granting Uber’s 

second motion to dismiss claims for state minimum wage and overtime violations on the grounds 

that Plaintiffs failed to assert sufficient facts to articulate their theory of liability); Yucesoy v. 

Uber Techs., Inc., 109 F. Supp. 3d 1259, 1273 (N.D. Cal. 2015) (granting Uber’s first motion to 

dismiss claims for state minimum wage and overtime violations on the grounds that “neither of 

the Plaintiffs alleges that he was personally ever paid less than the minimum wage or was denied 

overtime”).   

“[W]here the plaintiff alleges violations of the FLSA’s minimum and overtime wage 

provisions, the complaint should, at least approximately, allege the hours worked for which 

wages were not received.” Zhong v. August August Corp., 498 F. Supp. 2d 625, 628 (S.D.N.Y. 

2007); Scott v. Bimbo Bakeries, USA, Inc., No. CIV.A. 10-3154, 2012 WL 645905, at *2 (E.D. 

Pa. Feb. 29, 2012).  A complaint should also “indicate the applicable rate of pay and the amount 

of unpaid minimum wages due.”  Zhong, 498 F. Supp. 2d at 629.  A complaint sufficiently sets 

forth a plaintiff’s unpaid wages where it provides enough information to provide sufficient notice 

from which to calculate the alleged damages. See Zhong, 498 F. Supp. 2d at 629 (citing Hayes v. 

Bill Haley & His Comets, Inc., 32 F.R.D. 323, 324–25 (E.D. Pa. 1963).  The Zhong court held 

that the complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted because the plaintiff 

failed to “provide sufficient information for the Court to be able to calculate the damages 

claimed.” Zhong, 498 F. Supp. 2d at 630.  Indeed, courts routinely apply the Twombly/Iqbal 

standard in the FLSA context and dismiss such claims when, as here, they fall short of the 

required pleading standard. See, e.g., Gifford v. Meda, No. 09-cv-13486, 2010 WL 1875096 at 

*22 (E.D. Mich. May 10, 2010) (dismissing FLSA claim where “Plaintiffs have completely 
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failed to allege adequate facts in support of their overtime claim”); Anderson v. Blockbuster, Inc., 

No. 2:10-cv-00158, 2010 WL 1797249 at *3 (E.D. Cal. May 4, 2010) (dismissing complaint 

where Plaintiff failed to state “when or how Defendant failed to pay the required wages”); Smith 

v. Pizza Hut, Inc., 694 F. Supp. 2d 1227, 1229 (D. Colo. 2010) (dismissing FLSA minimum 

wage claims where complaint “suffer[ed] from two basic flaws: lack of clarity and conclusory 

allegations”). 

This Court should reach the same result here.  Plaintiffs’ First, Second, Third, and Sixth 

Causes of Action merely make “generic, conclusory assertions of a right to relief” under the 

FLSA and PMWA minimum and overtime wage provisions.  Jones v. Casey’s Gen. Stores, 538 

F. Supp.2d 1094, 1102-03 (S.D. Iowa 2008) (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555).  Nothing in the 

Complaint permits an inference of a right to relief that rises above the speculative level.  Jones, 

538 F. Supp. 2d at 1102-03.  Plaintiffs’ fail to allege the nature and compensability of their 

“work” for Defendants, how many hours they worked in a given workweek or per workweek, or 

that they worked uncompensated time in excess of the 40 hours in a given workweek.  The 

Complaint also fails to provide any information, much less sufficient information, which would 

permit the Court to infer that Plaintiffs actually received less than minimum wage, for even a 

rudimentary determination of Plaintiffs’ alleged damages, or a method by which they could even 

conceivably be calculated.  Applying the pleading standards to the Complaint, Plaintiffs fail to 

state a claim for unpaid minimum wage and overtime wages.  Because the First, Second, Third, 

and Sixth Causes of Action do not satisfy the minimal pleading standards under Twombly, the 

FLSA, and the PMWA, they must be dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief may 

be granted. 

Case 2:16-cv-00573-MMB   Document 38-1   Filed 08/19/16   Page 11 of 35



12 
 

In addition, Plaintiffs’ allegations that expenses in an unspecified amount and made on an 

unknown frequency were generally deducted from their compensation are facially defective 

because Plaintiffs never allege the actual amount of compensation received by any individual 

Plaintiff during any specific pay period, the amount of deductions during any specific pay period, 

or that the deductions ever occurred in an amount sufficient to reduce an individual Plaintiffs’ 

pay below the required minimum wage and overtime requirements in a given workweek.  Wass 

v. NPC Int’l Inc., 688 F. Supp. 2d 1282, 1288 (D. Kan. 2010) (dismissing FLSA minimum wage 

claims where plaintiffs “alleged only conclusorily that [defendant’s policies brought] their wages 

below the legal minimum”); Bailey v. Border Foods, Inc., No. 09-1230 (RHK/AJB), 2009 WL 

3248305 *5-6, (D. Minn. Oct. 6, 2009) (finding that plaintiffs failed to identify “any facts that 

would permit the Court to infer that Plaintiffs actually received less than minimum wage”). 

Without these basic averments, Plaintiffs failed to allege facts that would plausibly suggest that 

they are entitled to relief and thus failed to state a claim. 

2. Plaintiffs Do Not Plead Facts That Defendants Suffered Or Permitted 
Uncompensated Work 

Second, Plaintiffs contend that “Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and members of the 

Collective Action the minimum wages they were entitled to under the FLSA,” Compl. ¶126, 

“Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and members of the Collective Action an overtime premium 

for hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a work week” Compl. ¶135, “Defendants violated the 

PMWA by failing to pay Plaintiffs and the Class members the Pennsylvania minimum wage rate 

of $7.25 per hour,” Compl. ¶146, and “Defendants violated the PMWA by failing to pay 

Plaintiffs and the Class members in accordance with 43 P.S. § 333.104(c).” Compl. ¶147.  These 

assertions do not state a claim upon which relief can be granted.   
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An employer is not required to pay minimum wage or overtime compensation for hours 

“worked,” including overtime hours worked, without the employer’s actual or constructive 

knowledge.  Rather, an employer is only required to pay minimum wage and overtime 

compensation for those overtime hours in which the individual was “employ[ed].”  29 U.S.C. §§ 

206(a)(1), 207(a), 203(g); 43 P.S. §§ 333.104(a.1), (c), 333.103(f).  This is not a mere linguistic 

distinction.  An individual is not “employed” unless she is suffered or permitted to work for the 

employer.  29 U.S.C. § 203(g) (defining “employ” as “to suffer or permit to work”); 43 Pa. Stat. 

§ 333.103(f) (defining “employ” as “to suffer or permit to work”).  An individual is not suffered 

or permitted to work unless she performs the work with the actual or constructive knowledge of 

the employer.  See Davis v. Food Lion, 792 F.2d 1274, 1276 (4th Cir. 1986).  In order to recover, 

therefore, Plaintiffs must establish that the Defendants knew or should have known that they 

were working time for which they were not compensated.  Id. at 1277 (reasoning that the FLSA 

“requires the plaintiff to prove that he was ‘employed’ by the defendant, and that means proof 

that the defendant knew or should have known that the plaintiff was working overtime for the 

employer,”).  In other words, Plaintiffs must show (and therefore plead) that they were 

“employed” during the alleged uncompensated hours they claim to have “worked.” 

The Complaint is deficient on its face because Plaintiffs (1) do not allege facts related to 

any hours “worked”; or (2) they were “employed” by the Defendants during the alleged 

uncompensated hours they claims to have “worked.”  Plaintiffs provide no examples of the hours 

they or any of the other drivers they seek to represent actually worked or examples of weeks 

during which they or others actually worked over 40 hours.  It is impossible to determine 

whether Plaintiffs even have standing to bring their minimum wage and overtime claims, 

because Plaintiffs have failed to assert basic facts such as their start and stop times, what tasks or 
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duties they performed during their day, or hours worked per week.  Plaintiffs also do not assert 

facts that the Defendants ever suffered or permitted them to work without lawful compensation.  

They do not allege that the Defendants knew or should have known that they worked time 

without receiving lawful compensation.  Instead, Plaintiffs assert merely that they were 

misclassified, and therefore they must have been unlawfully paid.  Compl. ¶¶ 3-5, 89. This 

assertion alone does not provide sufficient facts to plausibly state a claim under the FLSA or 

PMWA. 

3. The FLSA Does Not Recognize A Cause Of Action For Recordkeeping 
And Posting Violations 

Plaintiffs allege in their First Cause of Action that “Defendants failed to make, keep, and 

preserve accurate records with respect to Plaintiff and members of the Collective Action, 

including hours worked each workday and total hours worked each workweek, as required by 29 

U.S.C. § 211(c) and supporting federal regulations,” and that “Defendants failed to post and keep 

posted in a conspicuous place on the premises of their establishments a notice explaining the 

FLSA, as prescribed by the Wage and Hour Division of the U.S. Department of Labor, in 

violation of the FLSA and supporting federal regulations, including 29 C.F.R. § 516.4.”  Compl. 

¶¶ 103, 104, 130.  The FLSA, however, does not provide a private right of action for alleged 

recordkeeping and posting violations.  29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (allowing private cause of action for 

violations of 29 U.S.C. §§ 206, 207 & 215(a)(3), but not 29 U.S.C. §§ 211(c) or 215(a)(5)); see 

Castillo v. Givens, 704 F.2d 181, 198 n.41 (5th Cir. 1983) (FLSA “contains no private 

enforcement mechanism if the employer fails to maintain … records” in accordance with 29 

U.S.C. § 211(c)), disapproved on other grounds by, McLaughlin v. Richland Shoe Co., 486 U.S. 

128 (1988); Vengurlekar v. Silverline Technologies, Ltd., 220 F.R.D. 222, 230 n.8 (S.D.N.Y. 

2003) (no private right of action for violation of FLSA recordkeeping requirements).  Because 

Case 2:16-cv-00573-MMB   Document 38-1   Filed 08/19/16   Page 14 of 35



15 
 

the FLSA does not provide a private right of action for alleged recordkeeping violations, 

Plaintiffs’ First Cause of Action fails to state a claim to the extent it is based on an alleged 

recordkeeping or posting violation. 

B. Defendant Is Entitled To Judgment On The Pleadings As To The Seventh 
Cause Of Action (WPCL – Failure To Designate Regular Paydays)  

1. The WPCL Does Not Recognize A Right Of Action For Failure To 
Designate Regular Paydays 

The statute provides that “[a]ny employe or group of employes, labor organization or 

party to whom any type of wages is payable may institute actions provided under this act.”  43 

P.S. § 260.9a.(a).  Thus, to institute an action under the WPCL, a contract must exist that creates 

a right to “wages,” which are payable, and have not been paid in accordance with the contract.  

Based on the plain language of the enforcement provision in the WPCL, the statute does not 

create a right of action for failure to designate regular paydays.  Defendants are entitled to 

judgment on the pleadings as to Plaintiffs’ Seventh Cause of Action for this reason alone. 

2. Plaintiffs Do Not Allege Facts To Plausibly Suggest That A Written 
Or Oral Contract Related To Wages Existed Or That Plaintiffs Were 
Entitled To Wages Under Such A Contract 

The Pennsylvania Wage Payment and Collection Law (“WPCL”) requires employers to 

“pay all wages, other than fringe benefits and wage supplements, due to his employes on regular 

paydays designated in advance by the employer,” and to pay a separated employee his or her 

“wages or compensation earned” at the time of separation no later than the employer’s next 

regular payday.  43 P.S. §§ 260.3, 260.5.  All “wages,” as that term is defined in the statute, 

“earned in any pay period shall be due and payable within the number of days after the 

expiration of said pay period as provided in a written contract of employment or, if not so 

specified, within the standard time lapse customary in the trade or within 15 days from the end of 

such pay period.”  43 P.S. § 260.3.  The WPCL does not create a right to compensation; it 
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provides a statutory remedy when the employer breaches a contractual obligation to pay earned 

wages. De Asencio v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 342 F.3d 301, 309 (3d Cir.2003) (citing Antol v. 

Esposto, 100 F.3d 1111, 1117 (3d Cir.1996)).  The contract between the parties also determines 

whether the wages or compensation has been earned.  Sendi v. NCR Comten, Inc., 619 F.Supp. 

1577, 1579 (E.D. Pa. 1985).  Where an employee does not work under a written employment 

contract or collective bargaining agreement, the employee will have to establish the formation of 

an implied oral contract to recover under the WPCL.  De Asencio v. Tyson Foods, Inc., 342 F.3d 

at 309-10, as amended (Nov. 14, 2003); see also Braun v. Wal–Mart Stores, Inc., 24 A.3d 875, 

954 (Pa.Super.Ct. 2011) (citing De Asencio, 342 F.3d at 309), aff’d, 106 A.3d 656 (Pa. 2014). 

Even if this Court were to entertain Plaintiffs’ Seventh Cause of Action, Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint does not include any factual assertions that would plausibly suggest a contract existed 

between Defendants and Plaintiffs related to wages, that Plaintiffs were entitled to “wages” 

pursuant to the terms of that contract, or that Defendant failed to timely or fully pay those wages.  

With respect to the timing of payment, Plaintiffs state that “[a]t the end of each week, the driver 

receives an electronic earnings statement from Uber and Gegen.”  Compl. ¶40.  Notably missing 

from Plaintiffs’ complaint is a copy of the earnings statement or any factual assertion related to 

the date on which any driver was paid (as opposed to receiving an earnings statement), which 

information is absolutely necessary to determining whether Defendants complied with the 

WPCL’s requirement to pay on “regular paydays.”  Although it may be implied from Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint that drivers were paid on a weekly basis, there are simply no facts asserted to 

establish that fact.  If such a fact were true, Plaintiffs’ Complaint would concede as a matter of 

law that Defendants paid drivers lawfully under the WPCL since they paid on regular paydays.  
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For the reasons stated above, Plaintiffs’ Seventh Cause of Action does not assert facts that would 

plausibly state a claim upon which relief may be granted. 

C. Defendant Is Entitled To Judgment On The Pleadings As To The Eighth 
Cause Of Action (Breach Of Fiduciary Duty) 

1. Plaintiffs Did Not Have And Cannot Show A Confidential 
Relationship With Defendants 

In Pennsylvania, a fiduciary duty only exists where there is a confidential relationship or 

a principal and agent relationship between parties.  Plaintiffs do not plead any facts to suggest an 

agency relationship so their claims hinge on whether they have pled facts sufficient to plausibly 

suggest that a confidential relationship existed.  The Pennsylvania Supreme Court has recognized 

that “[t]he essence of such a [confidential] relationship is trust and reliance on one side, and a 

corresponding opportunity to abuse that trust for personal gain on the other.” In re Scott’s Estate, 

316 A.2d 883 (Pa. 1974); Nardella v. Dattilo, 36 Pa. D. & C. 4th 364, 380 (Pa.Com.Pl. 1997) (A 

breach of fiduciary duty is in essence a breach of trust.).  The Pennsylvania Superior Court in 

Basile v. H & R Block, Inc., 777 A.2d 95, 101-102 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2001), stated that a 

confidential relationship exists where the parties do not deal on equal terms, “but, on the one side 

there is an overmastering influence, or on the other, weakness, dependence or trust, justifiably 

reposed.” (quoting Frowen v. Blank, 425 A.2d 412, 416-17 (Pa. 1981)).  A confidential 

relationship is marked by such a disparity in position that the inferior party places complete trust 

in the superior party’s advice and seeks no other counsel, so as to give rise to a potential abuse of 

power.  eToll, Inc. v. Elias/Savion Adver. Inc., 811 A.2d 10, 23 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2002).  “[A] 

confidential relationship and the resulting fiduciary duty may attach ‘wherever one occupies 

toward another such a position of advisor or counsellor [sic] as reasonably to inspire confidence 

that he will act in good faith for the other’s interest’.” Basile, at 101 (citation omitted) (citing 

Estate of Keiper, 454 A.2d 31, 33 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1982)).  Such a relationship may be found as 
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between trustee and cestui que trust, guardian and ward, attorney and client, or principal and 

agent, or where the facts and circumstances so indicate and are apparent on the record.  Basile, at 

101 (citation omitted).  In Basile v. H&R Block, the alleged confidential relationship was one 

between taxpayers and a tax preparer.  Once a fiduciary duty has been identified, Plaintiffs must 

also establish that Defendants breached the duty (i.e., failed to act in good faith and for the 

Plaintiffs’ interests and benefit) and did so for its own benefit. 

Defendants’ research has been unable to find any case law that holds as a matter of law 

that a business owes a fiduciary duty to an independent contractor in making decisions related to 

the business.  Even assuming for the sake of Plaintiffs’ argument that they should have been 

treated as employees, Defendants research has also been unable to identify any court in 

Pennsylvania that has held as a matter of law that an employer owes a fiduciary duty to an 

employee in making decisions related to the employer’s business.  The simple reason for this 

dearth of Pennsylvania case law is a matter of common sense.  Employees do not blindly place 

their trust in their employers, and employers are not legally obligated to act in their employee’s 

best interests.  Instead, employees are free to contract with and move between employers and 

employers may take actions that ultimately result in employees being unemployed, being 

demoted, or being transferred to a less desirable position.  This is true despite the fact that 

virtually all employment scenarios in general can be characterized as the employer “hav[ing] 

total control over how work is allotted” (Compl. ¶ 156), employees being “financially 

dependent” on their employers (Compl. ¶ 157), employees being required to “submit to stringent 

rules, requirements and conditions” in order to remain employed and receive a paycheck (Compl. 

¶ 158), and employers having control over their employee’s “ability to earn a living” while the 

employee chooses to work for that employer (Compl. ¶ 159).  In fact, the only case Defendants’ 
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research was able to find that flirted with the issue opined in dicta that although “it is not clear 

that an employer can never owe a confidential or fiduciary duty to his employee if the 

circumstances warrant finding such a duty,” a plaintiff would “have to adduce clear and precise 

evidence to maintain his claim and prove the existence of a fiduciary relationship.”  Babiarz v. 

Bell Atl.-Pennsylvania, Inc., No. 1863 AUG.TERM 2000, 2001 WL 1808554, at *12, n.7 (Pa. 

Com. Pl. July 10, 2001); see also, Restatement (Second) of Agency § 395 (1957) (“…normally, 

it is the agent or employee who owes the fiduciary duty to his principal or employer, and not the 

other way around.”).  

Even if this Court were to entertain the theory that an employer in certain rare factual 

circumstances could owe an employee a fiduciary duty, Plaintiffs have not asserted, expressly or 

otherwise, that a confidential relationship existed, they were weak, or they justifiably placed their 

trust in Defendants.  Plaintiffs also do not and cannot assert that Defendants occupied any of the 

positions traditionally recognized by Pennsylvania courts as those owing a fiduciary duty to 

another individual.  Other than the “common to all employment relationship facts” described 

above, and the conclusory allegation that “[g]iven the overmastering influence Defendants exert 

of Plaintiffs and Class members, Defendants owe Plaintiffs and Class members a fiduciary duty,” 

Plaintiffs fail to assert actual facts to plausibly show that a confidential relationship existed, 

Defendants exerted any undue influence over Plaintiffs or in any way represented that 

Defendants would act in good faith and exclusively for the Plaintiffs’ best interests, or Plaintiffs 

placed their complete trust in Defendants’ representations.  Compl. ¶¶ 156-159, 165.  On its face, 

Plaintiffs Complaint demonstrates that Plaintiffs were at all times aware of the terms of the 

relationship between the parties, and were free to choose whether they wanted to use the 
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“UberBlack” platform or to choose other pursuits (including uberX).5  Plaintiffs’ Complaint 

therefore fails to assert facts which would plausibly state a cause of action for breach of fiduciary 

duty. 

2. The Pennsylvania Statute Concerning Taxicabs And Limousines In 
First Class Cities Does Not Provide A Private Right Of Action 

Plaintiffs allege that “Defendants breached their fiduciary duty to Plaintiffs and Class 

members by purposefully creating, marketing and managing UberX,” which they allege “has 

been illegal in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania” since its launch and “blatantly disregards Title 53, 

Chapter 57 of the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes, Taxicabs and Limousines in First Class 

Cities, 53 Pa. C.S §§ 5701-5745.”  Compl. ¶¶ 166, 167, 169.  Plaintiffs also allege that Uber 

“intentionally violates 53 Pa. C.S. §5703 by charging rates lower than those approved by the 

PPA for UberX rides,” Uber “advises [UberX drivers] to disregard” the certification, inspection, 

license, medallion, dispatcher, insurance and fee requirements under 53 Pa. C.S. §§5706, 5711-

5722,” “Uber and UberX drivers are thus subject to criminal and civil penalties under 53 Pa. C.S. 

§§ 5724-5725,” and “Uber pays all fines and legal fees incurred by its UberX drivers, thus 

indemnifying and promoting their criminal activity.”  Compl. ¶¶ 170-172.   

First, Plaintiff’s statements as to the unlawful nature of uberX are patently false.  From 

July 13, 2016 through September 30, 2016, Uber has been classified as a Transportation Network 

Company that is authorized to lawfully operate in Philadelphia pursuant to Section 9.4 of Act 85 

of 2016.  H.R. 1605, 2015 Session (Pa. 2016).  

More importantly, Plaintiffs appear to ask this Court to ignore the fact that the statute 

concerning taxicabs and limousines in first class cities, 53 Pa. C.S §§ 5701-5745, does not 

                                                 
5 Even if the Court determined that for purposes of a 12(c) motion it could not exclude the possibility that sufficient 
facts had been pled to establish that a fiduciary duty existed, Defendants alleged efforts to offer the uberX product to 
Plaintiffs showed that it continued to act in good faith towards Plaintiff, Compl. ¶¶ 88, 175-176, and allowed them 
the benefit of either opportunity.   
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provide a civil right of action for private individuals.6  Rather, the statute anticipates that 

complaints will be brought by “[Philadelphia Parking] Authority enforcement officers, 

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission enforcement officers and police offices or licensing 

officials.”  53 Pa.C.S. § 5705(b).  The statute does not prevent “any city of the first class” from 

prosecuting violations and seeking “criminal penalties in a court of law,” but pursuant to the 

express language of the statute such a right does not extend to private individuals.  53 Pa.C.S. § 

5705(c); Checker CAB Philadelphia, Inc. v. Uber Techs., Inc., No. CV 14-7265, 2016 WL 

950934, at *4-5 (E.D. Pa. Mar. 7, 2016) (observing that the state and local laws and regulations 

pertaining to the operation of taxicab services in Philadelphia do not provide private causes of 

action).  Plaintiffs here attempt little more than to use their Breach of Fiduciary Duty common 

law claim to try to enforce their preferred interpretation of a state taxi regulation instead of 

adjudicating the issue before the PPA.  Courts, including a Court in the Eastern District of 

Pennsylvania, have not allowed this type of end around a state or local regulation that does not 

provide a private right of action.  Id. (citing Dial A Car, Inc. v. Transportation, Inc., 82 F.3d 484, 

488-89 (D.C. Cir. 1996)(noting that “we cannot find a single case that purports to extend the 

[Lanham] Act to allow federal judges to interpret and enforce municipal regulations, thereby 

affording plaintiffs remedies over and above those provided by local law”)); Manzo v. Uber 

Techs., Inc., NO. 13 C 2407, 2014 WL 3495401, at *3-4 (N.D. Ill. July 14, 2014) (agreeing with 

the D.C. Circuit in Dial A Car, Inc., that the plaintiffs “cannot use [state unfair trade practices 

laws] ‘as a backdoor method’ to bring a claim that Uber violates Chicago taxi and livery 

                                                 
6 Before its amendment in 2012, the General Local Government Law (which Plaintiffs allege that Defendants have 
violated) authorized the Commonwealth to file suit for its enforcement.  See, 53 Pa. C.S. §5725 (2011).  The 2012 
amendments, however, eliminated this provision in favor of a mandatory formal complaint process.  See 53 Pa. C.S. 
§ 5705; 52 Pa. Code § 1001.1 et seq.  There is no comprehensible basis for Plaintiffs to claim that the amendments 
that explicitly eliminated the Commonwealth’s right to file suit could be interpreted in any way to provide a private 
right of action for Plaintiffs’ alleged violations.  
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regulations”); Greater Houston Transp. Co. v. Uber Techologies, Inc., 2015 WL 1034254, at 

*11, 20 (S.D. Tex. Mar. 1, 2015) (following the analysis of the Dial A Car decision to dismiss 

the plaintiffs’ Lanham Act and unfair competition claims premised upon Uber’s alleged 

violations of local and state taxi regulations and statutes).  For this reason alone, Plaintiffs fail to 

state a claim upon which relief may be granted as to any alleged violations of 53 Pa. C.S §§ 

5701-5745. 

Finally, even if uberX were not expressly made lawful by statute, its existence and 

operation does not create or have anything to do with a confidential relationship between 

Plaintiffs and Defendants that would plausibly support a claim for breach of fiduciary duty.  

Plaintiffs attempt to shoe-horn their unfounded allegations related to 53 Pa. C.S §§ 5701-5745 

into a fiduciary duty cause of action, but there is no connection between them.  These allegations 

are wholly immaterial and irrelevant to this case, appear to be asserted for no legitimate purpose 

in this lawsuit, and serve only as an attempt to embarrass, harass, or exert undue influence on 

Defendants in the Philadelphia market.  For these additional reasons, Plaintiffs’ cause of action 

for breach of fiduciary duty based on alleged violations of 53 Pa. C.S §§ 5701-5745 should be 

dismissed with prejudice.  To the extent that Plaintiffs’ Eighth Cause of Action is not dismissed 

with prejudice in its entirety, all paragraphs related to alleged violations of 53 Pa. C.S §§ 5701-

5745 should be stricken from Plaintiffs’ Complaint and removed from the public record. 

D. Plaintiffs Fail To Plead Facts Plausibly Suggesting That Their Causes Of 
Action Are Appropriate For Collective-Action Treatment 

1. Plaintiffs Fail To Identify The Group Of Individuals Who They Allege 
Are Similarly Situated 

Even if this Court were to determine that Plaintiffs have stated an individual claim under 

the FLSA, the Court should dismiss the collective action allegations because Plaintiffs have not 

pled facts that would plausibly suggest that they are similarly situated to other potential putative 
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collective action members.  Under Section 216(b) of the FLSA an employee may proceed with a 

collective action “for and in behalf of himself … and other employees” if – and only if – the 

plaintiff and the additional employees are “similarly situated.” 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (emphasis 

added).  Thus, to avail themselves of the collective-action mechanism, Plaintiffs must plead facts 

plausibly suggesting that the members of the proposed collective-action group are similarly 

situated, that is, that they were “employed under the same terms and conditions” as Plaintiffs.  

Woodard v. Fed Ex Freight East, Inc., 250 F.R.D. 178, 190- 91 (M.D. Pa. 2008).  For class 

allegations to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion or motion for judgment on the pleadings, “the 

complaint should indicate who [the class members] are, and allege facts that would entitle them 

to relief.”  Zhong, supra, 498 F. Supp. 2d 625, 628-30 (S.D.N.Y. 2007); Landry v. Peter Pan Bus 

Lines, Inc., No. 09-11012-RWZ, 2009 WL 9417053, at *1 (D. Mass. Nov. 20, 2007) (dismissing 

class and collective claims where plaintiff only alleged legal conclusions not entitled to 

assumption of truth).   

Plaintiffs purport to bring their FLSA claims “on behalf of themselves and all similarly 

situated current and former employees of Defendants, who opt-in, as a collective action pursuant 

to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).”  Compl. ¶ 94.  Plaintiffs assert that  

[u]pon information and belief, there are many similarly situated 
current and former employees of Defendants who have been 
damaged by its FLSA violations, as set forth herein.  These 
similarly situated current and former employees would benefit 
from the issuance of a court-supervised notice of the present 
lawsuit and the opportunity to join this Collective Action.”  

Compl. ¶ 98; see also, Compl. ¶¶ 99-100 (repeating same legal conclusions).   

Plaintiffs’ class and collective action claims fail to plead non-conclusory facts sufficient 

to identify: (1) who the similarly situated drivers are, (2) how many putative class members 

allegedly exist or that Plaintiffs have first-hand knowledge of, (3) the dates of alleged 
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employment for the named Plaintiffs, (4) the locations at which other drivers worked, (5) the rate 

at which Plaintiffs and other drivers were paid, (6) who hired drivers, (7) who fired drivers, or 

(8) whether they actually worked over 40 hours in a week within the statutory period and, if so, 

where, when, how frequent, and how many hours in excess of 40 hours in a workweek.  

Identifying “employees of defendant” and stating that “[t]hese similarly situated current and 

former employees are known to Defendants, are readily identifiable and can be located using 

Defendants’ records” is insufficient to identify a group of employees who are allegedly subject to 

one or more of the policies alleged to be unlawful.  Compl. ¶¶ 96-97.  Where a plaintiff asserts 

an FLSA claim for overtime compensation relating to his specific personal circumstances, he 

must proceed on behalf of himself only.  Zhong, supra, 498 F. Supp. at 628-30. 

2. Plaintiffs Fail To Plead Facts Plausibly Suggesting That A Common 
Policy Or Plan Existed 

The Court should also dismiss the collective action allegations because Plaintiffs have not 

pled facts that would plausibly suggest that Defendants maintained an unlawful policy on its 

face, or that an otherwise lawful policy had an unlawful impact on Plaintiffs and others who they 

seek to represent in this action.  An essential element of pleading that a plaintiff and additional 

employees are similarly situated is to plead facts identifying the company policy that binds the 

putative class members together and plausibly suggesting that the plaintiff and other employees 

were victims of a common policy or plan that violated the FLSA.  Zhong, supra, 498 F. Supp. 2d 

625, 630 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (plaintiffs must, at least, provide “a modest factual showing sufficient 

to demonstrate that they and potential plaintiffs ... were victims of a common policy or plan that 

violated the law.”) (citations omitted); see also Hoffmann v. Sbarro, Inc., 982 F.Supp. 249, 261–

62 (S.D.N.Y 1997) (providing an example of sufficient pleading for similarly situated employees 

which included supporting affidavits from other restaurant managers, a description of the 
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company-wide policy at issue, and evidence that the identified group of employees were subject 

to that policy).  If the plaintiff merely recites the prerequisites for a class action without 

providing factual support, the class allegations should be dismissed from the complaint.  Id; see 

also Ovieda v. Sodexo Operations, LLC, No. 12-1750, 2012 WL 1627237, at *4 (C.D. Cal. May 

7, 2012) (dismissing class claims where plaintiff offered nothing more than the conclusory 

allegation that defendants subjected putative class members to identical violation of the 

California Labor Code”).   

Plaintiffs have not asserted a single policy that is unlawful on its face.  So the survival of 

Plaintiffs’ allegations rely entirely on whether they assert facts sufficient to plausibly suggest 

that Defendants otherwise lawful policies applied in an unlawful way to Plaintiffs and the 

individuals they seek to represent.  Plaintiffs have not, and cannot, assert such facts.  Plaintiffs 

assert that “Defendants subjected Plaintiffs and similarly situated current and former employees 

to the same policies and procedures, including, but not limited to: (a) failing to pay employees 

the applicable hourly minimum wage; (b) failing to pay employees an overtime premium for 

every hour worked in excess of 40 hours in a work week; (c) requiring employees to pay a fee 

for the opportunity to work a shift; (d) requiring employees to wear, maintain, and pay for 

uniforms; (e) failing to meet recordkeeping requirements; and, (f) failing to meet posting 

requirements.”  Compl. ¶ 96.  These statements are allegations based on nothing more than legal 

conclusions.   As noted above, Plaintiffs fail to plead basic facts even as to their own 

experiences, let alone the experiences of the broad group of individuals they seek to represent.  

There are no facts to show that Plaintiffs or those they seek to represent were affected in an 

unlawful manner by Defendants’ policies.  
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 Plaintiffs also assert that “Plaintiffs and members of the Collective Action were forced to 

incur business expenses for the benefit of Defendants, which cut into Plaintiffs’ and Collective 

Action members’ earnings.”  Compl. ¶ 97.  Here, as in Ovieda, Plaintiffs make plenty of 

conclusory allegations, but fail to plead facts plausibly suggesting that a common policy or plan 

existed that would violate the law.  Plaintiffs fail to assert facts to plausibly show (1) Defendants 

maintained an unlawful policy on its face, or (2) that Defendants’ facially lawful policies applied 

to all drivers in an equally unlawful manner.  Even assuming Plaintiffs’ were ultimately found to 

be misclassified, Plaintiffs have still failed to plead facts plausibly suggesting an unlawful policy 

existed or that there were other similarly situated individuals who were subject to and affected 

similarly by the policy.  

E. Plaintiffs’ Allegation That They Were Misclassified Independent Contractors 
Is Legally Insufficient 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that they (and other certified limousine drivers) were 

Defendants’ employees and were improperly classified as independent contractors.  Compl. ¶¶ 3, 

4, 14-16, 89.  To support this allegation, Plaintiffs assert 34 paragraphs and sub-paragraphs of 

conclusory allegations related to the level of control one or both Defendants allegedly exercise 

over Plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs’ Complaint entirely ignores, however, the other five factors of the 

“economic reality” standard used by courts in the Third Circuit to determine the existence of an 

employment relationship under the FLSA.  Donovan v. DialAmerica Mktg., Inc., 757 F.2d 1376, 

1383 (3d Cir. 1985) (adopting six-factor standard for determining “employee” status under the 

FLSA), cert. denied, 474 U.S. 919 (1985).  Under this standard, courts are to consider the 

following factors when determining whether an individual is an employee under the FLSA: 

(1) the degree of the alleged employer's right to control the manner in which the work is 
to be performed; 
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(2) the alleged employee's opportunity for profit or loss depending upon his managerial 
skill; 

(3) the alleged employee's investment in equipment or materials required for his task, or 
his employment of helpers; 

(4) whether the service rendered requires a special skill; 

(5) the degree of permanence of the working relationship; and 

(6) whether the service rendered is an integral part of the alleged employer's business. 

Id. (citations omitted).  In addition, this Court should consider “whether, as a matter of economic 

reality, the individuals are dependent upon the business to which they render service.” Id.  

Neither the presence nor absence of any particular factor is dispositive and courts should 

examine the “circumstances of the whole activity,” Id. at 1382-83 (citing Donovan v. Sureway 

Cleaners, 656 F.2d 1368, 1370 (9th Cir. 1981) and Rutherford Food Corp. v. McComb, 331 U.S. 

722, 730 (1947)), and should consider whether, as a matter of economic reality, the individuals 

“are dependent upon the business to which they render service.”  Id. at 1383 (citations omitted). 

A closer review of Plaintiffs’ Complaint actually reveals that in addition to not stating 

facts to plausibly show the existence of the other five factors, many assertions actually support 

Defendants’ position that Plaintiffs were properly classified as independent contractors under the 

“economic reality” factors.  For example, Plaintiffs suggest total control by Defendants over 

Plaintiffs’ work, but Plaintiffs decide whether to accept or to not accept the fare offered by 

Gegen.  See, Compl. ¶ 35 (“After the driver accepts the fare…”).  In addition, despite 

characterizing the services performed by limousine drivers as “on-demand transportation 

services for Defendants” (Compl. ¶ 2), Plaintiffs’ Complaint later clarifies that drivers only 

provide transportation to customers and only for fares that they accept.  See, Compl. ¶¶ 30-35.   

With regard to the second factor, each driver’s “total payout” or profitability is affected 

by the number of trips taken.  See, Compl. ¶ 41 (“The driver’s ‘total payout’ equals the ‘trip 
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earnings’ less ‘miscellaneous’ expenses.”).  In other words, if a driver uses his managerial skill 

to determine and work within an area or time period with more or higher paying fares, the driver 

will have higher trip earnings.  Plaintiffs’ Complaint expressly acknowledges that Defendants 

advertised to potential drivers that they could make upwards of $90,000 by offering their 

services to customers.  Compl. ¶ 63 (“…(3) advertising to potential drivers that they could make 

upwards of $90,000 by driving for UberBLACK…”).  In addition, Plaintiffs’ assertion that 

“‘total payout’ equals the ‘trip earnings’ less ‘miscellaneous’ expenses” tracks almost verbatim 

the dictionary definition of “profit,” which is defined as “money that is made in a business, 

through investing, etc., after all the costs and expenses are paid : a financial gain.”  Merriam-

Webster, Merriam-Webster.com (last visited Aug 11, 2016).  

With regard to the third factor, Plaintiffs have the ability to purchase their own vehicle to 

use in providing transportation services to Uber App customers. Compl. ¶ 54 (“Even if a 

potential driver is willing to invest in a luxury vehicle and certification, very few can afford the 

upfront application cost of $12,000”).  The negative implication in Plaintiffs’ assertion is that 

there are at least a few drivers who are willing to invest in a vehicle, certification, and who can 

afford the upfront application cost.   

With regard to the fourth factor, Plaintiffs admit that they are certified limousine drivers, 

which means they comply with PPA regulations and must go through PPA training, testing, 

examination, a criminal background check, and a driving history check. Compl. ¶¶ 2, 51, 65, 66.  

Such skills, Plaintiffs argue, separate them from mere “UberX drivers” who allegedly “do not 

receive PPA physical examinations, testing, vehicle inspections and trainings.”  Id., ¶ 79.  

With regard to the fifth factor, drivers have the ability to log on to be available to accept 

fares or to log off if they do not want to accept fares.  See, Compl. ¶ 33 (“When Gegen receives 
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the fare request from Uber, it forwards that request to a driver who is logged into the App.”) 

(emphasis added).  That factual assertion suggests that the relationship between Defendants and 

drivers is not permanent, but rather intermittent based on the preferences and choice of the 

driver.  Unfortunately, Plaintiffs have not alleged facts related to the duration of time in which 

they have provided limousine services through Defendants’ App, which is an independent basis 

upon which to find that Plaintiffs have failed to assert facts sufficient to establish even facially 

that they were misclassified.  

With regard to the sixth factor, Plaintiffs asserts that Uber has “diverted business away 

from its UberBLACK drivers,” “Uber has shifted its marketing towards UberX,” “Uber has 

updated its App so that UberX is the default selection,” and that “Uber has told UberBLACK 

drivers to become UberX drivers,” which implies strongly Plaintiffs’ belief that “UberBLACK” 

is no longer an integral part of Defendants’ business. Compl. ¶¶ 85-88.  

Finally, Plaintiffs fail to assert facts such as this Court may determine whether, as a 

matter of economic reality, the individuals “are dependent upon the business.”  Instead, Plaintiffs 

merely assert that “Plaintiffs and Class members are financially dependent on the fares provided 

to them by Defendants.” Compl. ¶¶ 157.  This generalized and conclusory attempt at pleading is 

insufficient.  Plaintiffs do not assert facts related to their incomes or what percentage of their 

income is derived from providing services through Defendants’ App.  Plaintiffs also do not assert 

that they provide services solely for Defendants. 

On its face, Plaintiffs’ Complaint again fails to assert sufficient factual allegations to 

plausibly suggest that Plaintiffs were misclassified, and in fact many of the factual allegations 

support their classification as independent contractors as a matter of law. 
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F. Plaintiffs Fail To State A Claim For A Willful Violation 

In addition to the foregoing deficiencies warranting dismissal, Plaintiffs’ individual 

FLSA claims must be dismissed to the extent they seek recovery beyond a two-year period 

because Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to allege facts to plausibly establish a willful violation.  In 

general, a cause of action against an alleged employer under the FLSA for a minimum wage 

violation or purportedly unpaid overtime must be commenced within two years after the cause of 

action accrued or it will be “forever barred.” 29 U.S.C. § 255(a); McLaughlin v. Richland Shoe 

Co., 486 U.S. 128 (1988).  The only exception to this rule is that, if an employer commits a 

“willful violation,” a three-year statute of limitations applies.  29 U.S.C. § 255(a).  To establish a 

willful violation under the FLSA, a plaintiff must show that “the employer knew or showed 

reckless disregard for the matter of whether its conduct was prohibited by the statute.” 

McLaughlin, 486 U.S. at 133-134; see, e.g., Markey v. Cameron Compression Systems, No. 10–

CV–377A, 2011 WL 90318, at *2 (W.D.N.Y. Jan.11, 2011) (denying motion to dismiss where 

plaintiff pleaded willfulness by alleging that he complained repeatedly to defendant that he was 

working hours that required overtime compensation under the FLSA). 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint does not make any reference whatsoever to “willful” conduct here – 

i.e., that Defendants “knew or showed reckless disregard for the matter of whether its conduct 

was prohibited by the statute.”  Instead, it merely alleges generally that Plaintiffs’ claims are 

brought against Defendants for “violations” or “repeated violations” of the FLSA, or generally 

concludes that Defendants’ actions were “willful and intentional” or that Defendants “were 

aware or should have been aware that the practices described in this Collective Action were 

unlawful.”  Compl. ¶¶ 6, 99, 105, 132, 137, 142.  Because the burden is on Plaintiffs to make 

some plausible factual allegation that would show Defendants acted willfully, the two-year 

statute of limitations for ordinary alleged violations must therefore apply here.  McLaughlin, 486 
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U.S. at 135.  Accordingly, for any individual Plaintiff pursuing any FLSA claims against 

Defendants for an alleged employment period more than two years beyond the date of filing this 

Complaint, such recovery is time-barred under the statute. 

G. Plaintiffs’ Prayer For Injunctive Relief Should Be Dismissed 

Plaintiffs’ Prayer for Relief paragraph (d) seeking injunctive relief against Defendants 

should be dismissed. The right to bring an action for injunctive relief under the FLSA rests 

exclusively with the United States Secretary of Labor.  See, e.g. Powell v. State of Florida, 132 

F. 3d 677, 678 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 524 U.S. 916 (1998).  Private individuals such as 

Plaintiffs are not authorized to bring actions for injunctive relief.  Id.   

In addition, Plaintiffs failed to assert facts to support a common law cause of action for 

injunctive relief.  There are six essential prerequisites a party must establish prior to obtaining 

injunctive relief.  The party must demonstrate: (1) relief is necessary to prevent immediate and 

irreparable harm that cannot be adequately compensated by money damages; (2) greater injury 

will occur from refusing to grant the injunction than from granting it; (3) the injunction will 

restore the parties to their status quo as it existed before the alleged wrongful conduct; (4) the 

petitioner is likely to prevail on the merits; (5) the injunction is reasonably suited to abate the 

offending activity; and (6) the public interest will not be harmed if the injunction is granted.  

Brayman Const. Corp. v. Com., Dept. of Transp., 13 A.3d 925, 935 (Pa. 2011); Summit Towne 

Ctr., Inc. v. Shoe Show of Rocky Mount, Inc., 828 A.2d 995, 1001 (Pa. 2003).  Plaintiffs made no 

attempt to assert facts sufficient to establish these prerequisites.  Consequently, Plaintiffs’ 

request for injunctive relief should be dismissed. 
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H. Plaintiffs’ Complaint Fails To Comply With Local Rule 23.1(B)(1) And 
(B)(2)(A) 

Rule 23.1(b)(1) of the Local Rules of Civil Procedure for the Eastern District of 

Pennsylvania requires that “[i]n any case sought to be maintained as a class action … [t]he 

complaint shall contain under a separate heading, styled ‘Class Action Allegations’ … [a] 

reference to the portion or portions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 under which it is claimed that the suit is 

properly maintainable as a class action.”  Rule 23.1(b)(2)(A) requires a complaint to contain 

“[a]ppropriate allegations thought to justify such claim, including, but not necessarily limited to:  

A. The size (or approximate size) and definition of the alleged class….”   

Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to reference the portion or portions of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 under 

which Plaintiffs’ claim that the suit is maintainable as a class action.  Plaintiffs’ Complaint 

further fails to assert facts related to the size (or approximate size) of the alleged class.  Instead, 

Plaintiffs baldly assert that “[t]he Class members are so numerous that joinder is impractical….”  

For the reasons stated above, Plaintiffs Class Action claims should be dismissed for failure to 

comply with the Local Rules.  

I. Plaintiffs’ Claims Cannot Be Saved By Limited Or Cabined Discovery  

The pleading requirements of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure cannot be judicially 

relaxed based upon Plaintiffs’ promise or hope that a discovery fishing expedition might catch 

the specific factual predicate necessary to provide some substantiation and plausibility for their 

claims.  Indeed, the Supreme Court has unequivocally rejected the use of limited or cabined 

discovery to save an otherwise deficient complaint.  As the Supreme Court stated in Iqbal, “Rule 

8 marks a notable and generous departure from the hyper-technical code pleading regime of a 

prior era, but it does not unlock the doors of discovery for a plaintiff armed with nothing more 

than legal conclusions.” Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1950.  If a plaintiff’s complaint is deficient under 
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Rule 8, a plaintiff “is not entitled to discovery, cabined or otherwise.” Id. at 1954.  Indeed, the 

Supreme Court has held that “[i]t is no answer to say that a claim just shy of a plausible 

entitlement to relief can, if groundless, be weeded out early in the discovery process through 

careful case management.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 559.  This is particularly true here where 

Plaintiffs allege that, as limousine drivers, they have received electronic earnings statements 

from Uber and Gegen that show “total payout.”  Compl. ¶¶ 40-41.  This allegation demonstrates 

that Plaintiffs do not need discovery from the Defendants to be able to establish how much they 

earned for every hour of work, and, thus, proceeding to even cabined discovery would be 

unnecessarily wasteful of this Court’s time and Defendants’ resources. 

Plaintiff’s Complaint thus cannot be saved because discovery might permit him to later 

amend his complaint to meet the requirement of Rule 8. “[I]t is only by taking care to require 

allegations that reach the level suggesting [plausibility] that we can hope to avoid the potentially 

enormous expense of discovery in cases with no reasonably founded hope that the [discovery] 

process will reveal relevant evidence to support . . . a claim.” Twombly, 127 S. Ct. at 1967 

(quotations and citations omitted).  Plaintiff’s allegations, taken as true, plausibly suggest no 

viable claim under the federal or Pennsylvania wage-and-hour laws or Pennsylvania common 

law. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants respectfully request that its Motion for Judgment 

on the Pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure be granted, and 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint be dismissed.   
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Dated: August 19, 2016 

/s/ Paul C. Lantis 
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Three Parkway 
1601 Cherry Street, Suite 1400 
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Telephone:  (267) 402-3073 
Facsimile:  (267) 402-3131 
PLantis@littler.com 
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625 Liberty Avenue 
26th Floor 
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